FILED

08/12/2024

FILED

Bowen Greenwood
CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0345

AUG 12 2024

Bowen Greenwood
Clerk of Supreme Court
State of Montana

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

STATE OF MONTANA,

CAUSE # DA 24-0345

plaintiff/appellee,

VS.

APPELLANTS BRIEF

DUANE ANGELO BURCHILL,

(Appealing Gallatin Co. District

defendant/appellant

Court - DC 16-368A)

DUANE ANGELO BURCHILL

MONTANA ATTORNEY GENERAL

AO # 27751

215 Nth Sanders

50 CROSSROADS DR.

P.O. BOX 201401

SHELBY, MT.

Helena, Mt.

59474

59620-1401

defendant/appellant

Gallatin Co. County
Attorney

1709 W. College, Suite #200

Bozeman, MT

59715

plaintiff/appellee

STATEMENT OF ISSUES FOR REVIEW

① Did the District Court err not ruling on pending Motion for Subpoena for production of evidence.

② Did the District Court err in denying Motion for New Trial

③ Did the District Court err in not allowing an evidentiary hearing to determine proper ruling of Motion for ~~New~~ Trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Duane Angelo Burchill went to jury trial between July 28th and August 2nd, 2017, for four pending offenses of (two) Robberies, (one) Deceptive Practices Exceeding \$1,500 and (One) Criminal Possession of Dangerous Drugs. The verdict was guilty on all counts, and sentencing occurred on February 13, 2018. Burchill appealed his conviction to the Montana Supreme Court and all counts were affirmed, December of 2019.

Burchill filed a timely Petition for Post Conviction Relief in March of 2020 and was denied by district Court and then appealed to the Supreme Court of Montana, which also affirmed the Petition,

in 2024.

Burchill discovered new evidence in the fall of 2023, of non-compliance impaneling jury selection of Statute 3-15-405, M.C.A., at the time of Burchill's jury trial. In January of 2024, Burchill filed a Pro Se Motion for a New Trial ^[Docket 195] and then filed for Motion for Subpoenas for Production of Evidence ^[Docket 197]. District Court denies Motion for a New Trial ^[Docket 205] and leaves Motion for Subpoena for Production of Evidence pending and evidentiary hearing silently out.

Burchill appeals to the Montana Supreme Court ^[Docket 206] for the denial of Motion for New Trial. Burchill first files a Motion to Stay appeal and Remand back to the District Court on pending Motion for Subpoena for Production of Evidence and the Montana Supreme Court denies Stay and Remand and Orders Burchill to prepare for Appeal Brief, which Burchill can opt to discuss details of Motion for New Trial and Pending Motion for Subpoena for Production of Evidence, which brings us up to current.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The pending Motion for Subpoenas should be ruled on and Motion for New Trial reversed and

remanded back to the District Court. When the subpoenas for sworn affidavits are Ordered as Burchill requested, the outcome of the rulings and potentially appeal would be different whether the Motion for a New Trial is granted or denied. Burchill has a Constitutional Right, U.S. Constitution, 14TH Amendment and Montana Constitution, Article II, section #9 to have access to the requested verified evidence. The preponderance of presumptive evidence of non-compliance to Statute 3-15-405, M.C.A. at the time of Burchill's jury trial is what brought Burchill to filing Motion for a New Trial and Motion for Subpoenas for Production of Evidence. Burchill has a "right to know" and it fully appears that Burchill's Constitutional Rights were indeed violated, U.S. Constitution 6TH and 14TH Amendments and Montana Constitution, Article II, sections #9, #17, #24 and #26. Burchill has a Constitutional Right to have a fair and impartial jury trial, as well as have access to the evidence requested, in determining whether Burchill's Constitutional Rights were violated at the time of Burchill's trial.

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review: "Our review of a district court's ruling on a motion for a new trial where the basis

of the motion is insufficiency of the evidence is de novo." "Like the district court, we determine whether there was substantial evidence to support the verdict," *Renville V. Taylor*, 2000 MT 217, P14, 301 Mont. 99, P14, 7 P.3d 400, P14.

"We review a district court's denial of an evidentiary hearing for a clear abuse of discretion." *State V. Terronez*, 2017 MT 296, 19, 389 Mont. 421, 406 P.3d 947 (citing *State V. Schulke*, 2005 MT 77, 10, 326 Mont. 390, 109 P.3d 744)

"An abuse of discretion occurs when the district court acts arbitrarily without employing conscientious judgment, or exceeds the bounds of reason resulting in substantial injustice." *State V. Knowles*, 2000 MT 186, 22, 357 Mont. 272, 239 P.3d 129.

"We review orders granting or denying requests for discovery for an abuse of discretion." *City of Billings V. Peterson*, 2004 MT 232, 13, 322 Mont. 444, 97 P.3d 532

Issue No. 1, Did the District Court Err not ruling on pending Motion for Subpoena for Production of Evidence: Due to the preponderance of presumptive "newly discovered evidence" Burchill sought verified

evidence to determine if Burchill's Constitutional Rights were violated in impaneling a jury for Burchill's 2017 jury draw selection, as U.S. Constitution 6th Amendment and Montana Constitution Article II, Section 24 and 26, which guarantees a criminal defendants "fundamental right to a fair and impartial jury." State V. Lamere, 2000 MT 35, 298 Mont. 358 2 P. 3d 204, while the Gallatin County Clerk of District Court and Sheriff were substantially not complying with Statute of Mandatory Language, 3-15-405, M.C.A. and that is why Burchill filed the Motion for Subpoenas for Production of Evidence requesting sworn affidavits that were sent to the Court, for compliance of said [Statute 3-15-405] [M.C.A.] at the time of Burchill's trial in 2017.

Burchill has a Constitutional "Right to Know" when filing to the Court, Montana Constitution Article II, Section 9, "No person shall be deprived of the right to examine documents or to observe the deliberations of all public bodies or agencies of the State ~~government~~ and its subdivisions,..." and this "right to know" allows Burchill the transparent integrity of the presumptive evidence on determining the impact of Constitutional Violations and the remedy necessary in ~~up~~ holding the Statute 3-15-405, M.C.A. and the "Mandated Shall's"

of non-compliance that occurred impaneling jury selection, at the time of Burchill's jury trial.

Burchill has a "liberty interest" in a fair and impartial jury. Civil rights is guaranteed in Burchill's Constitutional Right, protected in U.S. Constitution, 14TH Amendment "no life, liberty or property." The Due Process prohibits States from depriving any person of life, liberty or property without due process of law. Thus if one possesses a "liberty interest", the question becomes what process is due." Statute of Mandatory Language - 'Liberty Interest' is created when legislature expressly mandates to an agency the performance of some activity to be carried out within specific parameters which include definitions, criteria and 'mandated shalls.' " Orozco V. Day, 281 Mont. 341, Cause #96-344, (#351), 1997 Mont. Lexis 38. (MANDATED SHALLS).

"The clerk of Court shall serve notice by mail on persons drawn as jurors and require the persons to respond by mail as to their qualifications to serve as jurors. If a person fails to respond to the notice, the clerk shall certify the failures to the Sheriff, who shall serve notice personally on the person and make reasonable efforts to require the person to respond to the notice", 3-15-405, M.C.A.

Burchill's "liberty interest" exists and was violated as both State and Federal Constitutions protect an individual's right to a fair and impartial jury and the "Due process Clause" in achieving such and preserving Burchill's Rights and determining the violations. U.S. Constitution, 6th and 14th Amendment and Montana Constitution, Article II, sections #9, #17, #24 and #26. "Montana Statutes governing the procurement of trial jury could not be treated as harmless, because the right to an impartial jury was so essential to a fair trial that its violation could never be considered harmless." Case Summary (OVERVIEW), Case Summary (OUTCOME), "The judgement of the trial Court was reversed and remanded." Robbins V. State, 2002 MT 116, cause # 01-245.

The Court must allow the verified evidence to determine the assessment of the remedy Burchill seeks in the Constitutional violations of a fair and impartial jury. The Motion for Subpoenas for Production of Evidence would readily support the State or the defendants allegations and Burchill has a "right to know", as does this Court.

ISSUE No. 2, Did the District Court err in denying the Motion for a New Trial? For starters the

District Court should have allowed the "verified evidence" and information Burchill requested even if the Court determined after receiving that information that it now had, an analysis of proper ruling of what truly occurred, instead of claiming Burchill had "...not supported his Motion with an affidavit and has not provided any facts in Support of his assertion that the Clerk of District Court failed to properly convene a jury in 2017." ^{(Docket 205) [Pg. 2]} even if the Court ~~now~~ denies Burchill's Motion, the analysis and ruling would be much different and accurate, instead of a simple denial. The Constitutional violations that certainly appeared ^(EXHIBIT-C) with the preponderance of presumptive evidence; ^(Docket 201) gives Burchill the motivation to clearly assess how substantial the violations were at the time of his 2017 jury trial and as such file appropriate Motion for a New Trial, 46-16-702(1) "...in the interest of justice." M.C.A., and Motion for Subpoenas for Production of Evidence, 46-15-106; M.C.A., to determine proper remedy.

Substantial non-compliance of Montana Statute, 3-15-405, M.C.A., "...governing the procurement of a trial jury is structural error." State V. Lamere, 2000 MT 45,

50, 298 Mont. 358, 2 P.3d 204.

The District Court after focusing on Burchill had "not supported his Motion with an affidavit...", the Court then shifts his analysis on the denial by stating "[Docket 201] [Pg. 5]" he cites instances from Cascade and Flathead Counties in which courts have determined the jury selection statutes were not followed, "as well as Burchill did utilize Gallatin County evidence of current evidence on "Gallatin County Sheriff's Office" making strong attempts to now reel in "3,600 outstanding" non-responders on social media in 2023 and Counsel Jami Rebsom adding verified evidence that her client Shelby Bryan Ragner, in Ragner's Postconviction Petition and his "... rights to Due Process, Fair Trial, and right to Fair and Impartial jury were violated...", dated November 20th, 2023 and as professional testimony Cascade County Clerk of Court, Tina Henry "... it is likely that the faulty method currently employed in this County is also being used elsewhere in Montana.", yes Burchill's preponderance of presumptive evidence does not fall short in investigating a thorough inspection of substantial non-compliance and allowing the verified evidence that Burchill requested as to the Constitutional violations of Statute, 3-15-405, M.C.A. at the time of Burchill's 2017 jury trial.

Burchill's "right to know" is valid and as presented in Burchill's Motion to STAY ^(EXHIBIT-B) ^(Pg. 3) with the Supreme Court, other Counties in the State of Montana are bringing forward the subpoenas and sworn affidavits as to compliance by the Clerk of Court of Statute 3-15-405, M.C.A. **MOTION to STAY DA-24-0345-EX-A, EX-B**

The Gallatin County District Court also addressed the Motion for a New Trial was "untimely". Burchill's Counsel, District Court, Clerk of Court and Sheriff were all unaware at the time of Burchill's 2017 trial and as the State of Montana's Counties are bringing their compliance of Statute 3-15-405, M.C.A. up to speed and likely Legislation in 2025 will amend Statute 3-15-405, M.C.A., most were unaware until 2023 and 2023 was when Burchill was now aware and Burchill's investigation of due diligence began.

"The 1999 Montana Legislature amended M.C.A. 46-16-702(1) to specifically allow the Court to order a new trial... The Legislature did not place any limitations on the courts authority to grant a new trial whenever required by the interests of justice." State V. Morse, 2015 MT 51, 2015 Mont. Lexis 56, Cause # DA-14-0052, (Lexis Nexis Headnotes). "Errors involving jury selection are structural because they

proceed the trial and affect the fundamental constitutional right to an impartial jury." State V. Deveraux, 2022 MT 130, 25,409 Mont. 177, 512 P.3d 1198.

Burchill has shown "good cause" and "in the interest of justice" in establishing the violations of Burchill's Constitutional Rights and Due Process in a fair and impartial jury trial and this "newly discovered evidence" is not evidence that was presented at Burchill's jury trial, but failures of non-compliance of Statute 3-15-405, M.C.A. and these failures to not comply constitute structural error that preceded the trial; which is "presumptively prejudicial and automatically reversible." State V. Hardy, 2023 MT 110, 57,412 Mont. 383, 530 P.3d 814
"The Legislature did not insert a time limitation on the Court's authority to act under subsection(1), nor did it restrict the manner in which the issue may be raised." M.C.A., 46-16-702(1), Morse, headnotes, (Lexis 56)

Burchill is responding to the Constitutional violations that Burchill became aware of in 2023, during the fall and other Counties filing as well and these violations occurred at the time of Burchill's 2017 jury trial and Burchill seeks appropriate remedy, granting Burchill a new trial. Untimeliness is irrelevant.

"The rules of Statutory construction require the language of a **Statute** to be construed according to its plain meaning. If the language is clear and unambiguous, no further interpretation is required."

Ravalli County v. Erickson, 2004 MT 35, 11, 320 Mont. 31, 85 P.3d 772. The language of 3-15-405, M.C.A. is clear and unambiguous.

"...counsel had a right to rely on the judge and clerk to follow their statutory duties." Solberg v. County of Yellowstone, 203 Mont. 79, 84, 659 P.2d 290, 291, 292 (1983). "...if counsel does not have the knowledge, or means of knowledge, of the irregularity in the drawing of the jury or the panel from which it is selected until after the verdict, the question may be raised for the first time on motion for new trial." Dvorak v. Huntley Project Irrigation District, 196 Mont. 167, 171-22, 639 P.2d 62.

Gallatin County Courts, as of 2023 have ordered the Clerk of Court and Sheriff to comply with Statute 3-15-405, M.C.A. Burchill asks this Court why would Gallatin County Court and prosecution not want to see the subpoenas from the compliance of Statute, M.C.A. 3-15-405 granted and the "verified evidence" brought forward to support their argument, as Burchill does.

ISSUE NO. 3, Did the District Court Err not allowing an evidentiary hearing to determine proper ruling of Motion for New Trial: The Court left the ruling silent on Burchill's request for alternatively an evidentiary hearing and appointment of Counsel to question the Gallatin County Clerk of Court and Sheriff about compliance with M.C.A. 3-15-405, at the time of Burchill's jury was impaneled. ^(Docket 195, pg. 10) Gallatin County Attorney ^(Docket 198, pg. 7) opposed Burchill's request "... the State asserts a hearing is not necessary. ... the defendant here did not present any evidence demonstrating he was entitled to new trial." Burchill would like to appeal on that statement and say that the County Attorney did not respond to Burchill Motion for Subpoenas for Production of Evidence, as well as Burchill sent ^(MOTION to STAY) Subpoenas to the Court and the Court also did not respond to Burchill's ^(Docket-197) Motion for Subpoenas or grant Subpoenas sent. To state that Burchill's Motion was "untimely" and does not make a "prima facie" does not allow Burchill the defendant's Constitutional "Right to Know", Montana Constitution, Article II, Section #9 and #17. Burchill has "Right to Know" and obviously if the Court or the Attorney of Gallatin County weren't opposed to the "verified evidence" Burchill requested, or leave the

request for "alternatively giving Burchill an evidentiary hearing" silent and then not rule on Burchill's Motion for Subpoena or respond to it from the State, they would have simply allowed the requested "verified evidence" and sworn affidavits to be brought to the Court supporting their rulings and denials and opposition to Burchill's Motion for a New Trial, of the obvious Substantial non-compliance of Statute 3-15-405, M.C.A., at the time of Burchill's 2017 trial.

"A district court's discretionary rulings, including whether to grant or deny discovery, are reviewed for an abuse of discretion." State V. Soto, 2020 MT 265, 8401 Mont. 545, 474 P.3d 815. "... the State cannot deny defendants ... access to a material witness." State V. Smith, 206 Mont. 99, 108, 670 P.2d 96, 100-01(1983).

It would appear to any intellectual, rational person, that the "verified evidence" Burchill requested or the alternative evidentiary hearing, were all means to support Burchill's Motion for a New Trial and obviously, this evidence does not support the State's Response in opposition, or give simple evidence to support the Court's denial of Burchill's Motion for a New Trial, 46-16-702(1) "... in the interest of justice."

CONCLUSION

The Courts denial of Burchill's Motion for a New Trial, 46-16-702(1) "... in the interest of justice," should be reversed because the Court erred in denying it before gathering the "verified evidence" of substantial non-compliance to Statute 3-15-405, M.C.A., by the Clerk of Court and Sheriff in properly impaneling jury selection for trial at Burchill's 2017 Constitutional Right to a fair and impartial jury trial, U.S. Constitution 6th and 14th Amendments, Montana Constitution, Article II, Section #24 and #26. The Court erred in leaving pending Motion for Subpoena for Production of Evidence, 46-15-106, M.C.A., silent and Burchill requests this Court respectfully in reversing Burchill's Motion for a New Trial, remand it back to rule on this Motion for Subpoenas and bring forth the "verified evidence" to support Burchill's "preponderance of presumptive evidence" and Burchill does have a Constitutional "Right to Know" and utilize "Due Process Clause", U.S. Constitution, 14th Amendment and Montana Constitution Article II, Section #9 and #17, and Burchill's "Liberty Interest" being upheld with the Statutes of Mandatory Language and "Mandated Shalls."

Finally, Burchill regests an evidentiary hearing after gathering the information and verified evidence, bringing all these factors to the record to properly prepare for a transparent ruling of integrity and accuracy supporting Burchill's Constitutional Rights addressed.

The defendant respectfully requests that his Motion be reversed and remanded back to the district Court and the pending Motion be ruled on.