IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0345

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

DUANE ANGELO BURCHILL,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court,
Gallatin County, The Honorable Peter Ohman, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
MARDELL PLOYHAR
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
mployhar@mt.gov

DUANE ANGELO BURCHILL
AO #27751
Crossroads Correctional Center
50 Crossroads Drive
Shelby, MT 59474

DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT
PRO SE

AUDREY S. CROMWELL
Gallatin County Attorney
STEPHANIE McKNIGHT

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

A. Burchill has not demonstrated that any error occurred in the formation of his jury.

Burchill asserts that the clerk and the sheriff did not comply with Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-405, but he has not provided any evidence to support that assertion. Burchill relies on information about the notification of potential jurors years later in other counties to speculate that potential jurors in his trial were not personally served. Nothing in the record demonstrates that the Gallatin County Clerk violated Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-405. A district court should not be required to hold a hearing when the defendant fails to provide any evidence to support a motion for a new trial.

B. Burchill did not establish a constitutional violation.

Burchill argues that his right to a fair trial under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article II, sections 9, 17, 24, and 26, of the Montana Constitution was violated because the clerk failed to notify nonresponding potential jurors as required by Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-405. He did not provide

any authority for his assertion that his constitutional rights were violated. Even if the clerk and the sheriff failed to take steps to have nonresponding potential jurors personally served, as Burchill speculated, that would not establish a constitutional violation. *See Duren v. Missouri*, 439 U.S. 357, 364 (1979); *LaMere*, ¶ 62 (noting that although the clerk's failure to notify potential jurors by mail improperly excluded impoverished jurors, who were disproportionately Native American, *LaMere* did not establish a constitutional violation under *Duren*).

C. Even if the potential jurors were not personally served, there was not a substantial violation of Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-405.

1. Violations of the jury selection statutes that are not substantial are subject to harmless error analysis.

Even if potential jurors were not personally served, that failure would not establish a substantial violation requiring reversal of Burchill's convictions. This Court has held that a substantial failure to comply with the jury statutes requires reversal of a conviction, but a technical violation that does not threaten the goals of random selection and objective disqualification is subject to the harmless error standard. *State v. Bearchild*, 2004 MT 355, ¶ 16, 324 Mont. 435, 103 P.3d 1006; *LaMere*, ¶¶ 56-61. A failure to personally serve nonresponsive jurors is not a material deviation from the statutes and is harmless because it does not affect whether a jury is randomly drawn from a fair cross-section of the community.

This Court has taken “guidance from federal case law developed under the Jury Selection and Service Act of 1968 (JSSA)” to clarify “the substantial compliance standard.” *LaMere*, ¶ 56. To show a violation under the JSSA, “a defendant must show that the government substantially failed to comply with the methods set forth by statute for the selection of the jury.” *LaMere*, ¶ 56 (citing 28 U.S.C. § 1867(a) (1994)). In *LaMere*, this Court adopted the standard from federal law, which construes a substantial failure to comply as “a violation that contravenes one of two basic principles under the JSSA: (1) random selection of jurors; and (2) determination of juror disqualification, excuses, exemptions, and exclusion on the basis of objective criteria.” *LaMere*, ¶ 57 (citing *United States v. Royal*, 174 F.3d 1, 11 (1st Cir. 1999)).

This Court explained that “[a] substantial failure to comply encompasses a statutory violation that affects the random nature or objectivity of the selection process.” *LaMere*, ¶ 57 (citation and quotation marks omitted). “[T]echnical violations—even numerous such violations—that do not frustrate these goals or result in discrimination and arbitrariness do not constitute a substantial failure to comply.” *LaMere*, ¶ 58. This Court noted that the Commission Comments to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-16-112 provide that “a successful challenge to the jury panel can be founded only upon a ‘*material departure* from the law’ with respect

to the manner in which the jury was selected, drawn, or summoned.” *LaMere*, ¶ 59 (emphasis in original).

Thus, if a “statutory violation is ‘substantial’ or ‘material’—viewed in terms of the underlying principles of ensuring that jury venires are selected randomly and on the basis of objective criteria—then it cannot be considered non-prejudicial to the defendant. A departure from the statutory scheme that directly or materially affects the random nature or objectivity of the jury selection process establishes a substantial violation independently of the departure’s consequences in an individual case.” *LaMere*, ¶ 60. “Conversely, a mere ‘technical’ or ‘immaterial’ violation—one that does not undermine the objective procedures designed to produce a jury venire consisting of a fair cross-section of the community—constitutes non-prejudicial error under the substantial compliance standard.” *Id.*

In *LaMere*, this Court held that summoning potential jurors by telephone, rather than by mail, materially undermined the goal of the jury selection statutes to provide for random selection of jurors on the basis of objective criteria, requiring reversal. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 17, 75-76. *LaMere* moved to strike the jury panel before trial and presented statistics demonstrating a significant percentage of residents in Cascade County were Native American and a significant percentage of Native Americans lacked a telephone. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 5-8. The trial court denied the motion. On appeal, this Court held that telephone summoning failed to substantially

comply with Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-505 (1997), and that a substantial failure to comply with the statutory process of forming a jury requires reversal. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 25, 55-61. Because LaMere demonstrated the error undermined the random selection of jurors and the removal of jurors based on objective criteria, this Court reversed his conviction. *LaMere*, ¶ 75. This Court noted that LaMere did not establish that he was denied his right to a jury composed of a fair cross-section of the community under *Duren*, but it reversed his conviction based on the substantial violation of the statutes governing the formation of the jury. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 62, 75.

Similarly, this Court reversed the defendant's conviction in *State v. Highpine*, 2000 MT 368, 303 Mont. 422, 15 P.3d 938, because the clerk served notice on potential jurors by telephone. Highpine, like LaMere, presented statistical analysis demonstrating the clerk's method excluded economically disadvantaged people from the jury. *Highpine*, ¶ 40.

But this Court has found violations that did not impact the random nature or objectivity of the jury selection process to be technical violations, which are not reversible absent a showing of prejudice. This Court found that a judge's improper dismissal of a juror before trial was not a material failure to substantially comply and was harmless because the potential juror would not have served, and her dismissal did not affect the defendant's right to an impartial jury. *Bearchild*, ¶¶ 19-23. Similarly, this Court held an error was harmless when the wrong

alternate juror deliberated on the case. *State v. Oschmann*, 2019 MT 33, ¶ 19, 394 Mont. 237, 434 P.3d 280.

2. Federal law provides guidance on the meaning of “substantial.”

This Court’s reliance on federal law to interpret “substantial failure” demonstrates that guidance on the meaning of “substantial” can be gleaned from federal case law. *See LaMere*, ¶¶ 56-57. Federal courts have concluded that even multiple violations of the JSSA do not constitute “substantial” violations if the jury was still randomly selected and potential jurors were removed based on objective, even if incorrect, factors. *See United States v. Hernandez-Estrada*, 749 F.3d 1154, 1167-70 (9th Cir. 2013) (use of an incorrect English proficiency test that may have excluded additional jurors, disqualification of prospective jurors by unsupervised clerks, and failure to send back questionnaires of jurors who did not answer a question about their race were not substantial violations of the JSSA); *United States v. Carmichael*, 560 F.3d 1270, 1276-79 (11th Cir. 2009) (including more jurors whose service had been deferred in the qualified jury wheel than allowed by the jury plan and allowing excusals for longer than allowed in the jury plan were not substantial violations of the JSSA); *United States v. Savides*, 787 F.2d 751 (1st Cir. 1986) (use of a commercial mailing firm to select the names of potential jurors not a substantial violation); *United States v. Nelson*, 718 F.2d 315, 318-19 (9th Cir. 1983) (inclusion of person on jury panel who mistakenly appeared for

jury duty on the wrong day not a substantial violation); *United States v. Capone*, 683 F.2d 582 (1st Cir. 1982) (failure to publicly draw names of grand jurors not substantial); *Bearden*, 659 F.2d at 602-08 (failure to use a wheel to pick numbers not substantial and improper exclusion of jurors based on objective factors not substantial where not quantitatively significant); *United States v. Evans*, 526 F.2d 701, 706 (5th Cir. 1976) (having clerks, rather than a judge, determine disqualifications was a “technical” error that did not necessitate reversal); *but see United States v. Calabrese*, 942 F.2d 218, 227-30 (3d Cir. 1991) (automatically excluding potential jurors who knew the defendant was a substantial violation); *United States v. Kennedy*, 548 F.2d 608 (5th Cir. 1977) (use of emergency volunteer jurors was a substantial violation).

For example, in *Bearden*, a clerk of court failed to use a wheel to obtain the starting numbers that were used to select jurors, as required by the JSSA. Instead, the clerk obtained numbers by flipping to pages in a book or picking a number out of her head. *Bearden*, 659 F.2d at 601. The Fifth Circuit concluded that this was not a “substantial violation” of the JSSA because there was no showing that the method used “allowed discriminatory selection of jurors or otherwise prevented jury panels from consisting of fair cross sections of the community.” *Id.* at 602-03. Relying on the legislative history of the JSSA, the court explained that the JSSA does not require statistical randomness. *Id.* at 602. Instead, the JSSA is designed

to prevent discrimination among cognizable groups of prospective jurors. *Id.*

Although the clerk did not follow the procedure set out by the JSSA, the violation was not substantial because it did not frustrate the requirement that jurors be chosen randomly. *Id.* at 603.

The court also held in *Bearden* that the clerk's failure to post public notices about the jury selection was not a substantial violation of the JSSA because it "did not substantially affect the randomness or objectivity of the selection process" and was not done in an attempt to conceal the manner in which the clerk chose numbers. *Id.* at 604.

Similarly, the court held that the improper exclusion of hundreds of potential jurors on the basis of their age, occupation, intradistrict moves, or prior jury service was not a substantial violation of the JSSA where the percentage of people improperly excused was very small. *Id.* at 605-08. The court explained that if the number of people wrongfully excluded is small, there will not be a substantial violation of the JSSA. *Id.* at 607.

And, even if the number is quantitatively significant, there will not be a substantial violation unless "there has been a frustration of the Act's underlying principle of exclusions on the basis of objective criteria only." *Id.* Although the jury selection officials improperly excused potential jurors based on their incorrect

interpretation of the rules, the court concluded that they did so in good faith and their errors did not contravene the principle of objectivity. *Id.* at 608.

The court concluded that “[t]he mere misinterpretation or misapplication of the objective criteria [to disqualify jurors] by a clerk’s office does not violate the objectivity principle, in the absence of a discriminatory potential or effect.” *Id.* The court explained that the legislative history of the JSSA demonstrated that the subjective criteria the court intended to prohibit “included such notions as good character, approved integrity, sound judgment and fair education.” *Id.* at 607 (citation and quotation marks omitted). The court explained that Congress sought to prohibit reliance on such subjective factors that could produce discriminatory results. *Id.*

Similarly, the Ninth Circuit held that several violations of the JSSA were not substantial violations of the Act when the violations did not contravene the goals of random selection and objective disqualification. *Hernandez-Estrada*, 749 F.3d at 1167-69. In *Hernandez-Estrada*, the clerk’s office incorrectly excused jurors based on an outdated, more challenging English proficiency questionnaire. *Id.* at 1167. But the violation was not substantial because the number of people who may have been improperly excluded constituted a small percentage of the potential jurors (2.05% of the people who returned questionnaires and 3.49% of the qualified jury wheel). *Id.* at 1168.

The court clerks in *Hernandez-Estrada* also violated the JSSA by disqualifying jurors without the supervision of the court. *Id.* at 1168-69. But the Ninth Circuit concluded that the error was not substantial because only a small number of potential jurors were affected and the violation did not intrude on the random selection of jurors from voter lists or introduce subjective criteria into the selection process. *Id.* at 1169.

3. The failure to personally serve is a technical violation that is harmless.

In this case, even if the clerk failed to certify a list to the sheriff, and the sheriff failed to personally serve, there is no indication that undermined the goals of producing a randomly drawn jury composed of a fair cross-section of the community with excuses based only on objective criteria.

Burchill does not dispute that names were randomly selected from the list of eligible jurors to form the large pool of jurors for the year, as required by Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-404. Nor does he dispute that the panel of potential trial jurors was randomly drawn from the annual pool, as required by Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-501.

The failure of the sheriff to personally serve nonresponsive potential jurors, if that occurred, would not undermine the randomness of the pool of trial jurors. People were still randomly drawn from the list of names provided by the office of the court administrator, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-402, and the panel of

potential trial jurors was randomly drawn from that pool. Failing to serve nonresponders would not make the results any less random.

And federal cases, which this Court has relied on for guidance, explain that statistical randomness is not required as long as the system does not discriminate among cognizable groups of prospective jurors. *Bearden*, 659 F.2d at 602. There is no indication that those who failed to return their questionnaire were more likely to belong to any cognizable group. There are infinite reasons why a person may fail to return a questionnaire, including the likelihood that many people no longer live at the address where they were served. Failing to personally serve those people does not discriminate among any cognizable group. Thus, the failure to personally serve nonresponsive potential jurors does not contravene the principle that jurors should be drawn from a fair cross-section of the community.

It also does not contravene the principle that excuses should be granted based only on objective factors. Failing to personally serve potential jurors does not involve granting any excuses or exemptions.

Indeed, the JSSA, which was designed to promote the random selection of jurors and the determination of disqualifications and excuses based on objective criteria, does not require personal service of potential jurors. The personal service requirement was removed from federal statutes in 1970, and federal statutes have allowed potential jurors to be served by first-class mail since 1983. Pub. L. No.

91-543, 84 Stat. 1408 (codified at 28 U.S.C. § 1866 (1970)); Pub. L. No. 97-463, § 2, 96 Stat. 2531 (codified at 28 U.S.C. § 1866 (1983)).

Further, federal clerks are not required to follow up with individuals who do not respond to their jury summons. *United States v. Gometz*, 730 F.2d 475 (7th Cir. 1984); *United States v. Santos*, 588 F.2d 1300, 1303 (9th Cir. 1979). In *Gometz*, the Seventh Circuit acknowledged that failing to follow up with those who failed to respond may allow people to avoid jury duty by failing to return their juror qualification form, but the court concluded that the JSSA was not concerned with that as long as there was a sufficient number of potential jurors. *Gometz*, 730 F.2d at 480-82. The court concluded that “Congress was not concerned with anything so esoteric as nonresponse bias when it enacted the Jury Selection and Service Act.” *Id.* at 482. The court also observed that “anyone with experience as a trial judge knows that a person forced against his will to serve on a jury is apt to be an angry juror and that an angry juror is a bad juror.” *Id.* at 480.

The fact that the JSSA, which was designed to promote the principles of random selection and exclusion based on objective factors, does not require personal service supports the conclusion that failing to personally serve does not violate those principles or produce an unfair jury.

Further, failing to personally serve is far different than the violations that occurred in *LaMere* and *Highpine*. In those cases, potential jurors were never

notified of jury service if they did not have a phone number. LaMere presented statistics demonstrating that Native Americans were less likely to have a telephone. *LaMere*, ¶¶ 6-8. As a result, they were less likely to receive any form of notice about jury duty. In contrast, every person who was selected for the annual jury pool in this case was notified by mail, as required by Mont. Code Ann. § 3-15-405. Even if jurors were not personally served, there is no evidence indicating that any cognizable group was less likely to receive notice or less likely to respond to the notice sent out. Given that lack of evidence, there is no indication that failing to personally serve would contravene the principle that a defendant should have a jury made up of a fair cross-section of his community.

Because there is no indication that failing to personally serve nonresponsive jurors would jeopardize a defendant's right to an impartial jury, the violation would be harmless.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the district court’s denial of Burchill’s motion for a new trial.